Flags of the Rock City Guards

By Devereany 1, Cannon,

ongmigation, whose existence covensl the tur-

bulent period from TS60 to 1865, The name of
the orsanization s the ancient nickname of the capital
citv of Tenwessee, a niwme used by Nashvillians long
Lefore the tourist attraction of the same name apened
rear Chattanoongs. The mamee is sald to live derived
from the laver of rock underlving all of Dovidson
County very near the surface of the soil. While it is no
Iomger a common reference lor “Muosic City,” a lall-
dozen Rashiville business concerns still carry the
e “Rock City.”

The Bock City Guards began their corporate exist-
ence on March 8, 1860, when the General Assembly
of Tennessee enacted Chapter 96 of the Pablic Acts of
1855-60, entitled “An Act W incorporate the Bock
City Guards Military Company.™! The act named as
the organizing oflficers of the comprany, Nashville ks
ver Robert C. Foster, 1L bookkeoper Frank Sevier,
hardware merchant Jumes B. Craighead, salesinan
Joseph Vaulx, and Joseph L. Woods, whose prowar
occapation is onknown. This middle-class charcter
among its incorporators was reflected in the mem-
bership of the Rock Citv Guards, and carried over as
the organizition’s numbers multiplied with the out-
I'Ir[".l.lk f_EF VT

Two weeks alter Fort Sumber had been fired upon,
the Rock City Guards bod recruited so many men that
it had become a battalion of three companies, each
aumbering about 110 officers and men. The head-
cuarters of the Guards was located in the law offices of
Malone & Howell, at No, 6, Cedar Strect (now
Charlotte Avenue).® Company A, the original Rock
City Guards, was equipped by means of a $10,000
subseription donated by the people of Nashville® By
April 21, the men were fully equipped and armned
with Enfield rifles and sabre havonets. 4

The Bock City Gueards were a Nashville militia

By the end of April, the thres comprnies lad been
fully organized and their officers elected, Company A
was commanded by Caplain T F Seview, with Joseph
Vimbs, Jr, T H. Malone and W 13, Kellv as lisuten-
ants. Sevier was a bookkeeper and Malone o lyer
Both Visuls and Kelly were salesmen. Among the pon-
comnimisstonedd oficers weere also o limever, o salesiman,
and rwo clerks.?

The captain of Company B was the Tiardwins: mers
chant, James B, Craighead. His fest lieotenant wis
Johu Palterson, who wis a partoer inoa Trniboee stope
o College Street (o Thied Avente Northl. The
secondd and third lieutenants were Joln B Volees
and Willian . Porter. Company B eotnted among its
sergeants and corporals a merchant of shoes and
Losests, three salesimen, and the periodicals clerk of the
Sonthern Methodist Pablishing 1Tonse.

Company C had originally elected as their captain,
. W Kelly, proprictor of the City Omnibus Line
(forerunner of the Metropolitan Transit Autharity)®
He was foroed to resign, for business reasons, and was
veplaced as company commander by Dr. Bolwrt €
Foster, TV, u noted Davidson County phvsician and
editor of the Nashville Journal of Surgery and Medi-
cine. The lientenants of Company Cwere R, B. Spow-
den, a grocer, T B. Eastland, occupation unknown,
and banker Joln F Wheless, Wheless had formerly
been with the Bank of Tennessee, und had just the
previous vear apened his own banking firm on Col-
lege Street. His offices would serve as the beadguar
ters of Company € Among the noncoms of this
company were two merchants, & bookkeeper. a bank
clerk, a carpenter, a salesman, and a wagon maker

Since the companies of the Rock City Guards were
recruited almost exclusively from within the City of
Nashville, among the citv’s businessmen and their
sons, it is possible to get a good picture of the kind of
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men who made up this battalion, OF the total of 327
men whose names appear on the original muster nolls
of the three companies, 117, or over 36 percent, liave
nccupitions lHsted in the Nashville City & Business
Directory for 1860-61, The tmdes most representoed
in the Bock City Guards were salesmen and clerks:
the former numbering 36, and the latter, 23, Follow-
ing in number were bookkeepers and merchants,
with eight each, and lawyers, doctors, and carpen-
ters, each of these callings having live members
among the Guards. There were four tinsmiths, three
fimishers, and two cach of grocers, manufacturers, and
printers. Trades and professions which were repre-
sented by at least one eeruit included artist, auce-
tiwmeer, banker. brakeman, confectioner, engineer,
fisherman, huckster machinist, marble cutter,
moulder, paper hanger, and tickel agent. The chap-
lain of the battalion was the Rev. C. T Quintard,
rector of the Episcopal Church of the Advent. He
wistld become Gamous as chaplain of the First Tennes-
see regiment, and after the war would serve as Bishop
of the Episcopal Diocese of Tennessee,

The first flag under which the Rock City Guirds
served and paraded in the street of Nashville was the
“Stars and Stripes” of the United States of Americ,
which, at the time, bore thirty-three stars. The exact
design and star arangement of this Dag is eokoown.
Indeed, it is unknown whether the Guards actually
used a flag in this period. In that election vear of 1560,
however, a military march was commissioned and
dedicated to the Rock City Guards. The cover of the
sheet music of this march is festooned with the flag of
the union. {See Figure 1)

The service to the old flag would soon be inter-
rupted. In the election of 1860, the presidential can-
didate of a sectional party, whose electors were not
even on the ballot in Tennessee and other southern
states, was elected to the presidency of the union.
Many Tennesseans, and most people in the deep
South, saw this sectional victory as the end of hope for
prace within the union. Therefore, belore the year
was out, South Carolina left the old troubled union.
She was shortly followed by six other States and a new
Southern nation was formed under the style “Confed-
erate States of America.”

The people of Tennessee, in a wait-and-see mood,
rejected the call for o secession convention ot the
referendum of February 9, 1861.7 With the uttl:rnph:d
reinforcement and subseguent bombardment of Fort
Sumter, it became clear that Lincoln would allow no
pesceful dissolution of the union. On April 15, 1861,

LS Secretary of War Simon Cameron called upon
Governor Isham G, Harris to provide two regiments
of Tennesseans for the conguest of the Confederate
States, The governor's response was that “Tennessee
will mot furnish a Single Man for purposes of Coercion
bt 50,000 if necessary for the defence of our rghts
and those of our southern beothers,™

Om the evening before Harrds sent his response to
Cameron, Nashvillians turned out to celebrate Ten-
nessec s alliance with the Confederate States, an al-
liamee that would not be formal for some months vet.
As part of that celebration, the Bock City Guards
paraded through several of the principal steeets of the
ity behind the flag of the Confederate States of Amer
ica

From this account it i clear that the Rock City
Guards were in possession of the "Stars and Bars” of
the Confederate States shortly after the liring upon
Fort Sumter, ifl indeed, they did not hive it before
that event. One can only guess that it was the official
version of the day, with seven stars in a circle repre-
senting the seven States then members of the Con-
federacy. 1

At least two other versions of the “Stars and Bars”
were presented o the Rock City Guards. The first of
these was made by M. A. Kitch, Fannie E. Claiborne,
Laura V. Claiborne, Cuattie Cain and Tmogen Cain, Cn
April 23, 1861, amid great ceremony, Fannie
Claiborme presented this flag o Captain James B
Craighead, the commander of Company B of the Bock
City Guards.!

Afew days after Miss Claiborme presented this llag,
the three companies of the Rock City Guards, along
with the Tennessee Rifles and the Railmoad Boys, alsa
Nashville companies, the Maury Greys and Brown
Cuards of Maury County, the Franklin Rilles or Wil-
liamson Greys from Williamson County, the Ruther
lord Rifles, and the Martin Rifles or Martin Guards of
Giles County, were mustered into the service of the
State by Colonel Bushrod R, Johnson of the Military
Department of Nashville University, and designated
the First Regiment of Tennessee Volunteers.'# Com-
panies A, B, and C of the Rock City Guards became
companies A, B, and C of the First Regiment. 13

A majority of the regiment weal into their first
camp of instruction at Camp Harris near Allisonin on
the 6 and 7 of May, 1861.4 Company B of the Rock
City Guards, however, was still in Nashville on May
.15 That evening, before a large number of citizens at
the home of lswyer Daniel E. Carter, on High Street
(now Sixth Avenue), another Hag was presented to the



compiny by Georgina Foster, This flag was accepted
by Dr. D. F. Wright on behall of the company, The
company left for the camp at Allisonia at 5:00 o'clock
on the morning of May 10,

A flag identified as that of the Bock City Guards is
among the collection of the Tennessee Stite Museum,
{See Figure 2.) It is the design of the flag of the
Confederate States adopted by the Congress on
March 4, 1861, and displays in its canton nine stars,
like the flag described as having been presented by
Fannie Claiborne on April 23. Unlike that lag, how-
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EVET, the one l”l!.ﬁt!ﬁlll‘{] is made of cotton cloth rather
than silk. Furthermore, rather than a neat civdle of
nine stars, the fag on display at the State Museun has
a circle of eight stars, with the ninth in the lower right
hand corner. Tt gives the impression of a flag intended
to have a star in each cormer (o total of bwvelve stirs) that
was presented before it could be completed. 1n-
asmuch as the flag made by Georgina Foster was
pri_:sg:n!m;l little more than a da}' before the last of the
Rock City Guards left Nashville, it is likely that her
flag is the one now on display, just a few blocks from




Fig. 4,

where it was presented 127 vears ago.

Shortly alter going into camp near Allisonia, the
soldicers of the First Tennessee Regimont were moved
to Camp Cheatham in Robertson County where they
roceived military instruction for the nest two months
When news arrived in July that the Northern arms
wits moving into Vinginia, the regiment was ordered
to Manassas Junction. '™ The men arvived al that junc-
tion on the evening after the battle was fought. The
first fight for the Bock City Guards was the ill-fated
Cheat Mountain campaign under General Lee in
Hllph'rnlrr There the regiment was sur prised by a
Yankee ambush. ™ und, while they were able to put
the invaders to flight. they lost the Rag which is now
preserved in the Tennessee State Museum

In February, 1862, the First Regiment was ordered
to return to Tennessee. At Knoxville the Rock City
Cuards, with companies D and E, were dispatched to
Cumberland Gap, while the rest of the regiment was
forwarded to Ceneral A. S, Johnston's army at Cor
inth, Mississippi. From Corinth Johnston's army
mnved into Tennessee and defeated Grant's army al
Shiloh on April 6, only to lose the fruits of victory by
the arrival of Buells fresh union army during the
might. On .ipni 7. the detached portion of the First
Regiment, including the Rock City Guards, amrived at
Corinth, too late to take part in the battle. '

At about this time the regiment received its new
flag. (See Figure 3.) The regiment was assigned to the
First Corps under the command of General Leonidas

Palk, the Episcopal Bishop of Louisiana. General Polk
had designed a distinctive battle flag for use by his
troops, and a flag of this pattern was issued to the First
Tennessee. 2 This flag was used by the regiment
throughout 1862, until the battle of Perrvville, Ken-
tucky, om October 8, 1862, At Perryville the Bock City
Guards had about fifty men killed and pearly twice
that number wounded. 2! The First Regiment suffered
more than 50 percent casualties.® including the
death of Sergeant James T. Mitchell, the colour
bearer. * His lag was captured by the First Wisconsin
Infantry, and is now in the collection of the State
Historical Society of Wisconsin. 24

After Perrvville the regiment obtained & new flag
{See Figure 4. ) This flag, like the old one, was made of
wool bunting and white cotton. It was also based
generally on the “St. Ceorpe” pattern fag of Polk's
Corps. Added to the Mag at the top of the cross is a
white label with the unit designation “1st REGT
TENN" painted in black and edged in gold. The most
interesting addition to the flag are two white cotton
‘waves.” These waves begin under the two outer-most
stars (the one on the fiy end of the flag being missmg
nowl, arch up and over clusters of three stars, and
then bend down, almost meeting below the center
star The significance of these “waves™ is unknown,
and this writer is unaware of any other Polk’s Corps
flag being similarly decorated. It was under this flag
that the First Tennesses fought the battles of
Murfreeshoro, Chickamauga, and Missionary Ridge.
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It was retired in the spring of 1564 and is now in the
collection of the Tennesses State Museum. =

In December, 1863, General Joseph E. Johnston
replaced General Braston Bragg as commander of the
Armv of Tennesiee. Johnston immediately began
recorganization to strengthen the morale and efficien-
ey of the army. ® Among his efforts was that of issuing a
unifirm battle flag to the regiments of the army 10
replace the half-dozen or more different designs being
used. 7 The new flags, issued in the early spring of
1564, were similar in design to that used by the Army
of Northern Vinginia, escept thal they were oblong
rather than square and did not have the white border
found on the eastern Mlags. The Nag issued to the First
Tennessee at that time can not now be located, How-
ever, & similar flag tssued to the 415t Tennessee Infan-
trv at the same Hime is in the wollection of the
Tennessee State Museum. (See Figure 5.) All of the
flags of this issue are of similar size and construction,
and it may be assumed that the fMlags of these two
regiments, both of which served in Cheatham's Divi-
sion, would have been nearly identical

Beneath these colors the men of the Rock City
Guards fought the almost constant battle against Sher-
man [rom Resaca to Atlanta. Among the battles lought
during this time was thel st Kennesaw Mountain,
where the First Tennessee held the ™ Dead Angle. ™ It
has heen written that at the “Dead Angle”™ the dead of
the Rock City Cuards and the Maury Greys “were
almost piled in heaps. ™ From Atlanta to Rock City
Guards followed this flag back home 1o Tennessee, 1o
fight and die valiantly st Franklin in November and
their home city of Nashville in Decomber, 1864

After the defieat at Nashville eame the great march

Fig- 5

south and east, fighting Sherman through the Car
olinas, with the hope of joining Lee and combining
the two main Confederate armies. With the news of
Lew's surrender at Appomatox Court House there was
little hope left for the Army of Tennessee. The entire
army had been descimated and regiments were little
stronger than companies originally had been. Of the
327 men who started with the Rock City Guards in
April, 1561, only about ten percent remained in
April, 1865. In the final reorganization of the army by
General Johnston in April nine units, the Ist, 6th,
Sth, Sth, 16th, 27th, 25th, and 3th Tennessee Regi-
ments and the 24th Battalion of Sharpshooters. were
consolidated to form a single regiment: the First Con-
solidated Regiment of Tennessee infantry.® Finally,
on April 26, 1865, General Johnston sumrendered the
Army of Tennessee. At Greenshoro, North Carolina
the Rock City Guards stacked their arms for the last
time, and with them their flag, “so bullet-riddled and
torn that it was but a few blue and red shreds,™
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